1997

UTCO Associates, LTD., a Utah limited partnership, by and through its general partner, Robert D. Kent v. K. Demarr Zimmerman; Sumerset Houseboats, Div. SMI; and James E. Sharpe, John Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This appeal is from an final Judgment of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, entered in favor of Defendants Sumerset Houseboats, Div. SMI (“Sumerset”), and its

president James E. Sharpe ("Sharpe") on September 4, 1996 after a jury trial. R.1771-72. Appellant UTCO Associates ("UTCO") initially filed this appeal in the Utah Supreme Court (No. 960446), which had jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j) (1992). On March 19, 1997, the Utah Supreme Court poured over this appeal to this Court for disposition (No. 970190-CA). R.1798. The jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals in this appeal therefore rests upon its pour-over jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(k)(1992).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The broad issue on appeal is whether the trial court erred in its legal conclusions at trial when it (a) dismissed UTCO's promissory estoppel claims *sua sponte* and when it (b) instructed to the jury regarding defenses not pled by defendants; (c) failed to give several of instructions to the jury regarding the defendants' changing of identifying serial numbers on the Houseboat, the parties' course of dealing, and damages for loss use of property; and (d) granted defendants' motions in limine which precluded UTCO from introducing evidence that the Houseboat serial numbers previously sent to UTCO had been changed by defendants and that a boat bearing the serial number of the Houseboat was subsequently sold by defendants.¹ With the foregoing broad issues in mind, UTCO presents the following questions for review by this Court.

1. Did the trial court err in refusing *sua sponte* to instruct the jury on UTCO's claim for promissory estoppel prior to instructing the jury, which effectively dismissed said claim. Determining whether the trial court's refusal to give a proposed jury instruction constitutes error presents a

¹Defendants filed three "combined" Motions in Limine, one on July 11, 1997 and two more on the morning of July 22, 1997. Record at 1486-90, 1541-47, 1560-65. The trial court then granted the motions prior to the beginning of the trial. Record at 1904-10.

question of law, to which this Court gives no deference. Cornia v. Wilcox, 898 P.2d 1379, 1386 (Utah 1995). R 2606-2611.

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in granting defendants' motion in limine which precluded UTCO from introducing evidence on its fraud and negligent misrepresentaiton claims that: 1) the serial numbers on the Houseboats had been altered by defendants; 2) the Houseboat serial numbers previously sent to UTCO by Sumerset and Sharpe had been changed by defendants; 3) a boat bearing the serial number of the Houseboat was subsequently sold by defendants.² In reviewing questions of admissibility of evidence at trial, deference is given to the trial court's advantageous position. Heslop v. Bank of Utah, 839 P.2d 828, 838 (Utah 1992) (quoting Whitehead v. American Motors Sales Corp., 801 P.2d 920, 923 (Utah 1990)). Accordingly, this Court does not reverse the trial court's evidentiary decisions made pursuant to Rules 401 and 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence unless the court clearly abused its discretion. See State v. Wetzel, 868 P.2d 64, 67 (Utah 1993); Nay v. General Motors Corp., 850 P.2d 1260, 1262 (Utah 1993).

3. Did the trial court err in instructing the jury regarding defendants' alleged "different motivations" and "inferred intent" for purposes of analyzing fraudulent intent. R.1637, 2612-13. A party is entitled to a new trial where it shows that the trial court erroneously or insufficiently instructed the jury, or that the instruction mislead the jury and was prejudicial to the complaining

²The Court further precluded plaintiff from presenting evidence of any complaint, conversation or investigation by any government agency, including the F.B.I. and precluded plaintiff from presenting the testimony of Ellery Sumner and Ken Crooks, the principal investigators for the F.B.I. and the Division of Motor Vehicles regarding the reassignment of the serial numbers, respectively, as witnesses. Defendants filed three "combined" Motions in Limine, one on July 11, 1997 and two more on the morning of July 22, 1997, Record at 1486-90, 1541-47, 1560-65. The trial court then granted the motions prior to the beginning of the trial. Record at 1904-10.

party. Vitale v. Belmont Springs, 916 P.2d 359, 363 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). Determining whether the trial court's refusal to give a proposed jury instruction constitutes error presents a question of law, to which this Court gives no deference. Cornia v. Wilcox, 898 P.2d 1379, 1386 (Utah 1995).

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS OF LAW

Rule 12³ and Rule 41,⁴ Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, are determinative.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff appeals from the final judgment of the trial court after a jury verdict. Plaintiff filed this action for damages as against Sumerset Houseboats, Div. SMI's ("Sumerset") and Sharpe for their failure to deliver a Houseboat after receipt of \$60,000.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

UTCO filed its Complaint in this case on July 21, 1993, alleging that defendants Sharpe and Sumerset failed to send a Houseboat as they promised after receiving the Funds from UTCO. The Complaint was later amended and alleges causes of action for breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation, fraud, promissory estoppel, quantum meruit, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, foreclosure of security interest, conspiracy, conversion, implied contract, disregard of the corporate entity of Sumerset and seeking prejudgment interest and punitive damages. R. 1-11. Defendant Zimmerman answered the Complaint, denied liability, and affirmatively defended on the

³Addendum A.

⁴Addendum B

basis that they had not made the alleged representations to plaintiff, and that he was entitled to retain the money sent by plaintiff in any event. R. 18-27. Defendant Zimmerman further filed a Counterclaim on August 25, 1993. On June 16, 1995 in response to the filing of plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint, R.561-79, Defendants Sharpe and Sumerset filed an answer, and defendant Sumerset filed a counterclaim and third party complaint alleging that plaintiff and its attorneys had conspired to defraud Sumerset. R. 583-607,639-655. On February 26, 1996, the trial court entered its order granting Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and determined that the First Cause of Action of the Counterclaim, Third Party Complaint, and defendants' Eighth and Ninth Affirmative Defenses should be dismissed. R. 1438-43. On February 9, 1996, UTCO filed its Answer to the only remaining cause of action in the Counterclaim. R. 1303-06.

The trial court, sitting without a jury, tried this action on July 22, 23, 25, 29, and 30. During the course of the trial, the plaintiff voluntarily dismissed its claims for conversion, quantum meruit, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, foreclosure of security interest, and conspiracy and plaintiff presented no evidence in support of its Counterclaim. After the evidence was completed and just prior to instructing the jury, the Court dismissed *sua sponte* plaintiff's claim for promissory estoppel despite plaintiff's objection thereto. The jury was only instructed regarding plaintiff's claims for fraud, negligent misrepresentation and breach of contract. The jury returned a special verdict on July 30, 1996 in favor of defendants. R.1670-72. Judgment was entered in favor of defendants on September 4, 1996. R.1771-73. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on October 1, 1996. R.1774-79. This is an appeal from the entire judgment of the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. UTCO is a Utah limited partnership duly organized under the laws of the State of Utah and has its principal place of business located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah. R.561. Robert D. Kent is a general partner of plaintiff. R.561. Defendant K. DeMarr Zimmerman ("Zimmerman") is a resident of Davis County, State of Utah, transacting business primarily in Salt Lake County, State of Utah. R.561-62,640. Zimmerman commenced a proceeding under Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on October 6, 1993. R.561-62,640. Defendant Somerset Houseboats, SMI Div. ("Somerset") has its principal place of business in Somerset, Kentucky. R.640 Somerset is in the business of selling and shipping houseboats and has shipped houseboats to Zimmerman's place of business and other location specified by Zimmerman in Utah. R. 640, 2091-93. Somerset has had other substantial contacts with plaintiff in the State of Utah. R. 2091-93. Defendant James E. Sharpe ("Sharpe") is an individual who is the president and sole shareholder of Somerset and resides in or near Somerset, Kentucky. R. 640.

On or about November 20, 1992, Zimmerman arranged to purchase from Somerset a 1993 Somerset Houseboat, Serial No. SZJ02021C393, together with two motors and a generator (collectively referred to as the "Houseboat"), as evidenced by Somerset's invoice No. 04009. R.563,641.

Bruce J. Nelson ("Nelson"), plaintiff's former counsel, had previously arranged for houseboat financing for Zimmerman to purchase other houseboats from Somerset such that plaintiff, Zimmerman and Sharpe had established a course of dealing regarding Zimmerman's purchase of houseboats from Somerset. R.563,641. Pursuant to instructions given by Zimmerman, Somerset and Sharpe sent the original Manufacturer's Statement of Origin ("MSO") to Nelson. R.563,641.

Sharpe and Sumerset sent the MSO to Nelson to induce plaintiff to send \$58,384 (the "Funds") to Sharpe and Sumerset in payment of a portion of the purchase price of the Houseboat. R.2095. Sharpe, in a telephone conversation with Nelson, agreed to deliver the Houseboat to Zimmerman's place of business in Utah upon receipt of the Funds, which Sharpe alleged constituted the portion of the purchase price necessary for Sumerset to ship the Houseboat to Zimmerman in Utah. R. 2198-99.

On or about December 22, 1992, and based upon Sharpe's promise to Nelson to ship the Houseboat to Utah upon receipt of \$58,384, plaintiff agreed to loan (the "Loan") Zimmerman the sum of \$60,000 from which Zimmerman would pay a portion of the purchase price of the Houseboat. R.2197-99. At the time of the Loan and to evidence the same, Zimmerman executed a Note (the "Note") which called for repayment of the \$60,000 under the terms and conditions stated therein. Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 19. At the time of the execution of the Note, Zimmerman also executed a Security Agreement (the "Security Agreement") in favor of plaintiff. Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 20. By the terms of the Security Agreement, Zimmerman pledged the Houseboat as collateral security for the Note. Id. A description of such collateral was attached to the Complaint. R.579.

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement between plaintiff and defendants and their prior course of dealing, and in reliance on the promises and representations of Sharpe and Sumerset, plaintiff caused the Funds to be wired to Sumerset and Sharpe on or about December 29, 1992. R.2196-99,2278-79.

On December 29, 1992, the same day the Funds were received by Sumerset, Sharpe and Sumerset did not apply the Funds to the purchase of the Houseboat as represented to plaintiff, but

instead fraudulently applied the Funds to Zimmerman's purchase of another houseboat from Sumerset. R.1005-08. Sometime between December 29, 1992 and March 9, 1993, Zimmerman, Sharpe and Sumerset attempted to void the sale of the Houseboat to Zimmerman. R.565,642, 2075-76. Zimmerman, Sharpe and Sumerset did not give notice to plaintiff that they had attempted to void the sale of the Houseboat. R.2077.

Sharpe and Sumerset thereafter reassigned the serial number for the Houseboat shown on the MSO sent to Nelson to a second, different houseboat manufactured by Sharpe and Sumerset. R.643. Sharpe and Sumerset then sold the "second" houseboat to John Runda, and issued a second MSO to Runda, which bears the same serial number as the first MSO sent to Nelson. R.643.

The Houseboat never existed and there is no boat which is of the dimensions and has the features described in the invoice sent by defendants to plaintiff which bears Serial No. SZJ02021C393. R.565,643.

The trial court erroneously granted defendants' motion in limine on the first day of trial, July 22, 1996. R.1904-10. The Court then precluded UTCO from introducing evidence that the Houseboat serial numbers previously sent to UTCO had been changed by defendants and that a boat bearing the serial number of the Houseboat was subsequently sold by defendants.⁵ The Court further precluded plaintiff from presenting evidence of any complaint, conversation or investigation by any government agency, including the F.B.I. and precluded plaintiff from presenting the testimony of Ellery Summer and Ken Crooks, the chief investigators for the F.B.I. and the Division of Motor

⁵Defendants filed three "combined" Motions in Limine, one on July 11, 1997 and two more on the morning of July 22, 1997. Record at 1486-90, 1541-47, 1560-65. The trial court then granted the motions prior to the beginning of the trial. Record at 1904-10.

Vehicles, respectively, as witnesses. R. 1541-47,1560-64,1904-10.

After the close of the evidence and prior to instructing the jury, the trial court erroneously dismissed plaintiff's claim for promissory estoppel *sua sponte* and refused to instruct the jury on UTCO's promissory estoppel. The Court stated:

I've indicated in chambers that I was not instructing on the equitable causes of action of promisory [sic] estoppel. For the record, the reasons I have determined not to do that is, I am satisfied the plaintiffs have an adequate remedy at law and, I believe, it is the rule that equitable remedy is not available as long as there is an adequate remedy at law. And I believe there is here.

Also, I am satisfied that the concept of promissory estoppel basically mirrors the causes of action that are being asserted in this case by the plaintiff. And they'll just be surplage.

Finally, I'm satisfied that the court of appeals case that was cited to me by plaintiff's counsel, saying that they seem to suggest that the court must send equitable causes of action to the jury is factually distinguishable in this case and I'm satisfied it would be inappropriate to submit that equitable claim to a jury, if it was otherwise proper. R.2606-07.

Later, plaintiff objected to the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury regarding the plaintiff's promissory estoppel claim:

Mr. Gibb: In light of the court's ruling, I don't believe I need to address our exception to Number 18, which was entitled "Promissory Estoppel". The Court has addressed that fully in its ruling and your record, I believe, previously, with respect to that issue.

The Court: Just as long as the record shows that any offered exceptions, or any offered instructions that you submitted in this matter have not been given because of that ruling and that you have an exception to those.

Mr. Gibb: Correct, your Honor. We believe that Instruction Number 18 on promisory [sic] estoppel did adequately state the law. R.2611.

The trial court also refused to instruct the jury on plaintiff's proposed jury instructions

regarding the defendants' changing of identifying serial numbers on the Houseboat, and damages for loss use of property. R. 2610-11. This loss of use of the property was for consequential damages suffered by UTCO as a result of the loss of the money sent to Sumerset and Sharpe.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

After more than three years of litigation and on the last day of a five-day jury trial, the trial court for the first time informed UTCO that it was refusing to instruct the jury on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim. The trial court cited procedural arguments as a basis for its decision despite the fact that the parties had consented to have the issue tried by the jury. The trial court's *sua sponte* refusal to instruct the jury on the issue of promissory estoppel is contrary to Utah law allowing such claims to be tried to a jury where the parties consent thereto. The promissory estoppel claim was not surplusage as the trial court held. Accordingly, UTCO is entitled to a new trial on its claim for promissory estoppel.

The trial court also improperly prohibited UTCO from presenting evidence that Sumerset and Sharpe had changed the serial numbers on the Houseboat they promised to send to UTCO and further precluded UTCO from introducing evidence that a boat with different dimensions but bearing the same serial number as was sent to UTCO was sold by Sumerset and Sharpe. Under Utah law, fraudulent intent is determined by weighing all surrounding circumstances including those which occur after the fraudulent representation is made because the law recognizes that there is rarely direct evidence of fraud. The trial court erred in excluding evidence described in Sharpe and Sumerset's motion in limine including the changed serial numbers and the subsequent sale to a third person. UTCO is entitled to a new trial on its fraud and negligent misrepresentation claims.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT *SUA SPONTE* DISMISSED PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL.

On July 30, 1996, after the close of the evidence and just prior to instructing the jury, the trial court announced that it was dismissing *sua sponte* plaintiff's claim for promissory estoppel. The trial court stated:

I am satisfied the plaintiffs have an adequate remedy at law and . . . that the concept of promissory estoppel basically mirrors the causes of action that are being asserted in this case by the plaintiff. And they'll just be surplage.

Finally, . . . I'm satisfied it would be inappropriate to submit that equitable claim to a jury, if it was otherwise proper.

R.2606-07. The trial court did not state whether the *sua sponte* refusal to instruct the jury on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim was under Rule 12 or Rule 41, or whether it was a directed verdict. However, the trial court's failure to cite its basis for refusing to instruct the jury on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim is of no moment as this Court pays no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions decided under any of these rules. This Court reviews for correctness the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury regarding plaintiff's promissory estoppel claim. Cornia v. Wilcox, 898 P.2d 1379, 1386 (Utah 1995).

A. THE PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL CLAIM SHOULD HAVE BEEN PRESENTED TO THE JURY.

Although promissory estoppel is an equitable claim for relief which is normally tried

to the bench,⁶ the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allow the jury to act as a factfinder in an equity action: "In all actions not triable of right by a jury the court upon motion or of its own initiative may try any issue with an advisory jury or, with the consent of both parties, may order a trial with a jury whose verdict has the same effect as if trial by jury had been a matter of right."⁷ The parties had both agreed that the promissory estoppel claim should be submitted to the jury. Both parties had prepared jury instructions on that claim. The parties knew and agreed to present their case to the jury as evidenced by Defendants demand for a jury trial regarding all issues⁸ and the lack of objection from either party to the trial court's scheduling order and the pretrial order which ordered that the entire case be for a jury trial.⁹ In spite of that consent to submit the issue to the jury, the trial court *sua*

⁶See *Tolhoe Constr. v. Staker Paving & Constr.*, 682 P.2d 843, 849 (Utah 1984).

⁷Rule 39(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. See *Goldberg*, 896 P.2d at 1242 (Citing *Nicholson v. Evans*, 642 P.2d 727, 728 (Utah 1982); *Romrell v. Zions First Nat'l Bank*, 611 P.2d 392, 394 (Utah 1980); *Willard M. Milne Inv. Co. v. Cox*, 580 P.2d 607, 609 (Utah 1978); *Andreason v. Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co.*, 848 P.2d 171, 174 (Utah App.1993); see also 5 James W. Moore et al., *Moore's Federal Practice* ¶ 39.04 (1994) (stating verdict has effect of common law verdict, although action formerly would have been in equity)).

⁸Record at 583, 606.

⁹Although a jury trial on all issues was not formally stipulated to, it is clear on a review of the record and the Court's scheduling and pretrial orders that all parties thought all issues were being tried to a jury. Record at 583,606,1431,1692. Further under Utah law, "[e]xpress consent is unnecessary." *Goldberg v. Jay Timmons &*

sponte found that it would be “inappropriate to submit that equitable claim to a jury.” R.2607. This was error. The trial court’s refusal to instruct was not based on the merits of the claim, but on procedural grounds. The trial court gave three procedural reasons for its refusal to instruct. It did not assess or weigh the evidence submitted by UTCO in support of its promissory estoppel claim. The Court found that plaintiff had an adequate remedy at law, the promissory estoppel claim was “surplusage” and that it would be inappropriate to send an equitable claim to the jury for adjudication. R.2606-07.

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