1997

Utco Associates, LTD v. K. Demarr Zimmerman : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Trial Court Properly Refused To Instruct The Jury On UTCO's Equitable Promissory Estoppel Claim.

The trial court correctly held UTCO had an adequate remedy at law and declined to instruct the jury on UTCO's equitable claim of promissory estoppel. The only evidence at trial was that UTCO loaned the \$58,384 to Mr. Zimmerman under an express contract to which neither Sumerset nor Mr. Sharpe were parties. The uncontroverted evidence also showed that UTCO had filed claims against Mr. Zimmerman which were pending in the bankruptcy court seeking to collect those very funds, and those collection efforts were put on hold while UTCO pursued this equitable claim against Sumerset and Mr. Sharpe. Under this Court's holding in Knight v. Post, 748 P.2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Utah App. 1988) this attempted end-run around available legal remedies cannot be allowed and the trial court properly dismissed the equitable promissory estoppel claim. See also Commercial Fixtures and Furnishing v. Adams, 564 P.2d 773, 774 (Utah 1997)(existence of valid contract with third-party to recover debt bars equitable claim seeking to imply contract against another).

The trial court's refusal to instruct on the promissory estoppel claim was also proper on the independent bases that the evidence conclusively established that UTCO did not reasonably rely on the alleged promise as: (1) UTCO had already agreed to loan and had loaned the funds to Mr. Zimmerman before the promise was purportedly made by Mr. Sharpe; and (2) The funds wired to

Sumerset belonged exclusively to Mr. Zimmerman and UTCO had no ownership interest in them.

The Trial Court Properly Precluded Admission Of Evidence Regarding The Assignment Of The Tentatively Reserved Serial Number To A Different Boat Three Months After The Transaction And Mr. Zimmerman's Cancellation Of The Houseboat Purchase.

Contrary to UTCO's implication throughout its Brief, there was no proffer or evidence of any alteration or changing of any serial number. The evidence excluded by the trial court was simply Sumerset's reassignment of the serial number tentatively reserved for Mr. Zimmerman's houseboat three months after any alleged misrepresentation and Mr. Zimmerman's cancellation of the purchase. That evidence was properly excluded under Rule 402 of the Utah Rules of Evidence as it had no relevance. That Sumerset reassigned the sequential serial number three months after the transaction at issue had absolutely no relevance as demonstrated by UTCO's repeated inability to articulate why or how the evidence was relevant.

This evidence was also properly precluded under Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, even if it were somehow deemed relevant, as the evidence would have created unfair prejudice, confusion and a waste of time. Instead of focusing on the pertinent issues, UTCO sought to interject this evidence to attempt to raise the question that Sumerset somehow technically violated some statute concerning the assignment of hull identification numbers. While there was no evidence to support a violation by Sumerset, the jury would have been inundated with

vast amounts of evidence concerning the propriety of maintaining serial numbers in a sequential order and focusing on things that occurred three months after the transaction giving rise to UTCO's claims. Additionally, the jury would have been confused regarding the effect of the evidence and, assuming a violation occurred, very probably would have rendered a verdict on that fact instead of focusing on the relevant conduct which occurred at the time of the transaction between the parties themselves. Rule 403 is designed precisely to prevent this type of distraction and confusion during a trial and the trial court was clearly within its discretion in precluding this evidence.

ARGUMENT.

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON UTCO'S PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL CLAIM.

The trial court, at the conclusion of the evidence and after receiving and hearing argument from all parties on Sumerset's and Mr. Sharpe's Motion for Directed Verdict on the promissory estoppel claim, refused to instruct the jury on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim. A primary basis for declining to instruct the jury on this claim (i.e., that UTCO had an adequate remedy at law which barred its promissory estoppel claim) mirrors the chief basis upon which the Motion for Directed Verdict on the promissory estoppel claim was made by Sumerset and Mr. Sharpe. While the trial court did not expressly reference the immediately preceding Motion for Directed Verdict in its ruling, as UTCO concedes on appeal "the trial court's failure to cite its basis

[i.e., Rule 12 or 41, or directed verdict] for declining to instruct the jury on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim is of no moment as this Court pays no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions decided under any of these rules." UTCO's Brief at p. 11. The trial court was correct, as a matter of law, in declining to instruct the jury on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim and the judgment should be affirmed.

A. UTCOS PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL CLAIM WAS BARRED AS THEY HAD AN ADEQUATE REMEDY AT LAW AVAILABLE AND FAILED TO EXHAUST THESE LEGAL REMEDIES.

As a general rule, one must first exhaust his legal remedies before he may recover on the basis of an equitable claim. Knight v. Post, 748 P.2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Utah App. 1988); Commercial Fixtures and Furnishing v. Adams, 564 P.2d 773, 774 (Utah 1977)(exhaustion of remedies required before pursuit of any equitable claim); see also UTCO's Brief at p. 16 ("it is true that where there is an adequate remedy at law, no equitable remedy will be applied"). As the evidence shows, UTCO had an adequate remedy at law and that remedy was its claim filed in Mr. Zimmerman's pending bankruptcy.¹² As a matter of law,

¹² Despite the briefing and argument before the trial court indicating that the legal remedy available to UTCO which barred the promissory estoppel claim was UTCO's remedy in Mr. Zimmerman's bankruptcy, UTCO's Brief argues that the trial court mistakenly concluded that the available legal remedy was an express contract between UTCO and Sumerset. That is simply incorrect. The Motion and argument before the trial court, including the argument of UTCO's counsel, [R2411] clearly demonstrate that it was not any express contract between UTCO and Sumerset that the trial court held was the legal remedy available to UTCO. Instead, it was the bankruptcy claim, as had been briefed and fully argued to the trial court that served as the

UTCO's pending claim in Mr. Zimmerman's bankruptcy was a legal remedy available to UTCO which barred them from pursuing the equitable promissory estoppel claim against Sumerset and Mr. Sharpe. Knight v. Post, 748 P.2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Utah App. 1988).

This Court's decision in Knight is dispositive of this issue. In Knight, the plaintiff brought an equitable claim against defendant for work plaintiff performed for a third-party which benefitted defendant. The plaintiff also had filed a claim in the third-party's pending bankruptcy. This Court, reversing the lower court's judgment against defendant and in plaintiff's favor, held as follows:

As a general rule, one must first exhaust legal remedies before he may recover on the basis of the equitable doctrine of quantum meruit. [citations omitted] The legal remedies available to [plaintiff] included. . . pursuit of the [third-party's] assets as a creditor in the [third-party's] bankruptcy proceeding, neither of which [plaintiff] successfully exhausted.

. . .

[Plaintiff] raised his claim in the corporation's bankruptcy proceeding, but at the time he initiated his lawsuit, he modified his claim to recover from the corporation only the amount that he did not recover from [defendant]. He did not pursue his claim in bankruptcy to its end to attempt to recover from corporate assets, but brought this action during the pendency of the bankruptcy action. Neither did he submit evidence to the lower court that pursuit of the bankruptcy claim would, in all

basis of its ruling.

likelihood, be fruitless. Thus, he did not adequately pursue this remedy.

[Defendant] should not be held liable as a consequence of [plaintiff's] failure to successfully assert his legal rights.

Knight, 748 P.2d at 1099-1100 (emphases added).

That is the identical scenario present in this case. The undisputed evidence establishes that UTCO filed claims against Mr. Zimmerman in his bankruptcy to recover the same \$58,384 that is the subject of UTCO's promissory estoppel claim against Sumerset and Mr. Sharpe. [R2363-2364, 2445-2447] UTCO's claims were still pending against Mr. Zimmerman in the bankruptcy proceeding, [R2364] and UTCO presented no evidence its claims in the bankruptcy would be fruitless. In fact, the only evidence at trial established that UTCO would receive a distribution under the bankruptcy. [R2447] Additionally, UTCO had filed a nondischargeability action in Mr. Zimmerman's bankruptcy which it had not pursued to completion and which UTCO stopped pursuing pending the outcome of the instant action. [R2448-2449] Thus, UTCO had a legal remedy available which it had failed to exhaust and, as this Court held in Knight, Sumerset and Mr. Sharpe "should not be held liable as a consequence of [UTCOS] failure to assert its legal rights." Knight, 748 P.2d at 1100. Accordingly, the trial court properly refused to instruct the jury on the equitable promissory estoppel claim as UTCO had failed to exhaust its legal remedies and, therefore, could not recover under that claim as a matter of law.

B. THERE ARE SEVERAL OTHER BASES UPON WHICH THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL CLAIM WAS PROPER AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Even if Utah law were ignored and it was assumed that somehow UTCO's failure to pursue its claims in Mr. Zimmerman's bankruptcy did not bar its promissory estoppel claim in this action, there are several independent legal bases upon which the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury was proper and should be affirmed.¹³ They are addressed in turn.

1. UTCOS PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL CLAIM WAS BARRED AS THERE WAS AN EXPRESS AGREEMENT BETWEEN UTCO AND MR. ZIMMERMAN FOR REPAYMENT OF THE FUNDS AT ISSUE.

As a matter of law, the trial court also properly refused to instruct on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim as UTCO had a valid contract with Mr. Zimmerman for repayment of the very funds it sought to recover under its promissory estoppel claim. Commercial Fixtures and Furnishing v. Adams, 564 P.2d 773, 774 (Utah 1997). This issue was also briefed in connection with the Motion for Directed Verdict filed by Sumerset and Mr. Sharpe and was argued to the Court. On this issue, as with the failure to exhaust legal remedies, Utah case law is determinative.

¹³ As the Utah Supreme Court has noted, the trial court is vested with discretion to properly advise the jury, which discretion also includes refusing to give instructions when they would be inappropriate. Powers v. Gene's Bldg. Materials, Inc., 567 P.2d 174, 176 (Utah 1977). The Utah Supreme Court has stated: It is well recognized that the parties are entitled to have their theories of the case presented to the jury in the form of instructions, but only if they are supported by the evidence. Id. (upholding trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on several theories).

In Commercial Fixtures, plaintiff sued defendant for unjust enrichment seeking to recover for improvements plaintiff made to defendant's premises pursuant to a contract with defendant's lessee. The lessee was not a party to the action. The Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's rejection of the equitable remedy by stating:

It is also noted that there was an express contract between plaintiff and the lessee for the furnishing of materials, and when an express agreement exists one may not be implied.

Commercial Fixtures, 564 P.2d at 774.

UTCO, as did the plaintiff in Commercial Fixtures, asked the trial court to imply an agreement between itself and Sumerset or Mr. Sharpe, even though the evidence conclusively established that UTCO had an agreement with Mr. Zimmerman whereby Mr. Zimmerman was already obligated to repay the very funds UTCO was seeking to recover. Thus, the trial court's refusal to instruct on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim should be affirmed on this additional ground.

2. UTCO'S PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL CLAIM WAS PROPERLY NOT SUBMITTED TO THE JURY AS THE EVIDENCE CONCLUSIVELY ESTABLISHED UTCO DID NOT RELY ON THE ALLEGED PROMISES.

As a matter of law, the trial court also properly refused to instruct on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim as there was no basis upon which a jury could find that UTCO reasonably relied upon the promise alleged to have been made by Sumerset. This issue was also briefed in connection with the Motion for

Directed Verdict filed by Sumerset and Mr. Sharpe and was argued to the Court.

To prevail on its promissory estoppel claim, UTCO must establish that, inter alia, it reasonably relied upon the purported promise. E.g., Weese v. Davis County Comm'n, 834 P.2d 1, 4 (Utah 1992); Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 90. The evidence adduced at trial conclusively established that UTCO failed to prove this element.

a. No Reliance As UTCO's Decision To Loan And The Loan Itself Was Made Before Alleged Promise.

UTCO's promissory estoppel claim was based on Sumerset's alleged misrepresentation which, as described by Mr. Nelson, UTCO's counsel and witness,¹⁴ occurred in the course of phone calls he had with Mr. Sharpe. Mr. Nelson testified on direct examination that during the conversation during which the alleged promise was made, Mr. Nelson confirmed to Mr. Sharpe that UTCO had made the \$60,000 loan and Mr. Zimmerman had signed the documents.

On cross-examination, Mr. Nelson then confirmed twice that his own deposition testimony accurately reflected the timing of the conversation he had with Mr. Sharpe:

Q. Just so I understand the timing of this conversation, did this conversation occur before

¹⁴ Mr. Nelson was the only witness presented at trial with any personal knowledge of the alleged promise. UTCO had conceded that no one other than Mr. Nelson had any communications with anyone from Sumerset regarding this transaction.

or after UTCO had made the decision to actually loan funds to Mr. Zimmerman?

A. After.

Q. Did this conversation occur before or after the conversation you had with Mr. Zimmerman in which you informed him that UTCO would in fact loan him \$60,000?

A. After.

Thus, the undisputed evidence established that UTCO's decision to loan \$60,000 to Mr. Zimmerman and the loan itself occurred before the alleged promise. Accordingly, as a matter of law, there was no evidence upon which the jury could have concluded that UTCO relied (reasonably or otherwise) on the alleged promise underlying the promissory estoppel claim. E.g., Weese v. Davis County Comm'n, 834 P.2d 1, 4 (Utah 1992)(promissory estoppel requires showing of reasonable reliance). UTCO had already committed to make the loan, and had already made the loan when the purported promise was made to Mr. Nelson. Accordingly, as a matter of law UTCO did not reasonably rely on the promise and the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim must be affirmed.

b. No Reliance As UTCO Had No Interest In The Funds Wired To Somerset.

As a matter of law, the trial court also properly refused to instruct on UTCO's promissory estoppel claim as there was no reliance as Mr. Zimmerman, not UTCO, owned the funds wired to Somerset. The undisputed evidence, including UTCO's own admission, established that UTCO had no ownership interest in the

funds that were wired to Somerset. Moreover, as discussed above, UTCO agreed to make the loan and made the loan before the alleged promise. Accordingly, there simply was no detriment suffered by UTCO as a result of any alleged promise and the promissory estoppel claim failed as a matter of law.

3. UTCOS ARGUMENT ON THIS ISSUE IS INAPPLICABLE AS THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED THE PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL CLAIM ON LEGAL GROUNDS AND THE CLAIM WAS NEITHER SUBMITTED TO THE JURY NOR DECIDED BY THE COURT.

The argument set forth in UTCOS Brief in support of its claim on appeal that the trial court did not properly instruct the jury can be summarized as follows: The parties consented that the promissory estoppel claim would be tried to a jury instead of the court even though it is an equitable claim upon which a jury trial as a matter of right is not allowed. UTCO then sets forth authority for the proposition that parties can consent to a jury trial on equitable claims and if they do so the trial court should not decide at the last minute that it, not the jury, will be deciding the claim. From this premise, UTCO makes the nonsequitur argument that since the parties agreed that the claim would be tried to a jury that it was error for the trial court not to instruct them even though the claim was insupportable as a matter of law. That is not the law.

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